#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

SONYA VARNELL, individually

APPELLANT

VS.

CAUSE NO.: 2010-TS-2005

GED O'CONNOR

APPELLEE

#### CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of the Supreme Court and/or the judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

- 1. Sonya Varnell - Appellant
- 2. Ged O'Connor - Appellee
- 3. Richard Giannini - Co-defendant in trial court
- 4. University of Southern Mississippi – Co-defendant in trial court

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT DENIED VARNELL'S MOTION FOR JUDGMENT NOTWITHSTANDING THE VERDICT AS TO O'CONNOR'S SEXUAL HARASSMENT CLAIM.
  - A. The two isolated comments by Varnell are insufficient as a matter of law to constitute actionable sexual harassment.
  - B. The alleged comments of Varnell toward O'Connor were not based on sex or sexual in nature.
  - C. The comments attributable to Varnell did not affect any term, condition or privilege of O'Connor's position with USM.
    - 1. O'Connor's position with USM was not at all affected by or after Varnell's alleged comments.
    - 2. Varnell's alleged comments are not severe or pervasive.
    - 3. Varnell's alleged comments are not objectively or subjectively hostile or abusive.
- II. O'CONNOR FAILED TO PROVIDE SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THE DAMAGE AWARD RENDERED BY THE JURY.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Nature of the Case and Course of Proceedings and Disposition in the Court Below

On March 29, 2001, Ged O'Connor brought suit in the Circuit Court of Forrest County against the University of Southern Mississippi, Sonya Varnell, Richard Giannini, and Dr. Horace Fleming, alleging claims of sexual harassment, gender discrimination and retaliation, which he contended violated his Due Process and Equal Protection rights, and entitled him to relief under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 and/or 42 U.S.C. § 1983. He also brought state-law claims for slander/defamation, wrongful termination, "Whistle Blower" liability, negligence, negligent and intentional infliction of emotional distress, and tortuous interference with business/employment relationship. (See "Complaint" in Record on Appeal ("R.") at pp. 474-478).

O'Connor's case was consolidated for discovery and ultimately for trial with similar suits brought by John Vincent and John Mollaghan. On April 18, 2008, a consolidated Motion for Summary Judgment was filed by all Defendants concerning all claims of all three Plaintiffs. On June 12, 2008, the Trial Court entered an Opinion and Order granting summary judgment in favor of Varnell and the other Defendants on O'Connor's Title VII, due process and equal protection claims, as well as all but one of his state-law claims. (R. at 1243-52; Record Excerpt ("R.E.") No. 2). Those remaining were O'Connor's claims for gender discrimination, sexual harassment, retaliation and tortuous interference with business relations concerning his alleged employment at the University of Louisiana Monroe.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Vincent and Mollaghan have filed appeals of the rulings of the trial court, which have essentially been consolidated with this appeal since all three cases were tried together and a single record from the trial court is being utilized for all three appeals.

Beginning June 16, 2008, these three cases were tried to a jury in Forrest County. At the conclusion of trial, the jury returned a verdict in favor of O'Connor and against Varnell and others on his gender discrimination, sexual harassment and retaliation claims, and awarded him damages in the amount of \$300,000.00. (R. at 1144-45). Varnell filed a Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict, or Alternatively, for a New Trial, on July 1, 2008. (R. at 1179-89).

On March 5, 2009, the Trial Court entered an Opinion and Order finding in favor of all Defendants and against O'Connor on his tortuous interference with business relations concerning his alleged employment with the University of Louisiana-Monroe. (R. at 1237). On April 12, 2010, the Trial Court entered an Opinion and Order on the Defendants Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict or alternatively, for a new trial, granting Varnell's Motion as to O'Connor's gender discrimination and retaliation claims, but denying it as to his sexual harassment claim and as to the amount of the jury verdict. (R. at 1346-57; R.E. No. 3). O'Connor subsequently filed a Motion for Reconsideration on April 22, 2010, which was denied by Order of the Trial Court on November 8, 2010. (R. at 1358-83; R. at 1436-40).

No notice of appeal has been filed by O'Connor. (See R. at pp. 1441-1446, 1457-1462). Thus, the JNOV's granted by the trial court as to all of O'Connor's other claims are final, and the only claims remaining for adjudication by this Court is his sexual harassment claim and, additionally and alternatively, whether the award of damages is supported by the evidence.

#### B. Statement of the Facts

In the Fall of 1999, O'Connor became a Graduate Assistant ("GA") for the University of Southern Mississippi's ("USM") women's soccer program. As a GA, O'Connor received tuition, room, board, and books. O'Connor did not receive any salary or benefits from USM, nor did he ever have a written employment contract with USM. O'Connor worked under the head women's soccer coach, Vincent, and the assistant coach, Mollaghan. (Trial Transcript ("Tr.") at p. 48, L 1-7; p. 116, L 17 to p. 118, L 20; p. 134, L 25 to p. 135, L 25; R.E. No. 4). At that time, Varnell was an Associate Athletic Director and the Senior Women's Administrator for women's sports at USM. (Tr. at p. 503, L 29 to p. 504, L 2; R.E. No. 5).

In late October 1999, the women's soccer team traveled to Chicago, Illinois, and Milwaukee, Wisconsin, for games with DePaul University and Marquette University. And in early November, the team traveled to Dallas, Texas, for the Conference-USA Soccer Tournament. (Tr. at p. 59, L 28 to p. 60, L 16; R.E. No. 4). Varnell accompanied the team on these trips, as it was her practice to accompany the women's teams she supervised on one away trip per season, as well as on any post-season trips.

On the October trip, the team departed from Hattiesburg by bus to the airport in New Orleans for their flight to Chicago. As the team was boarding the bus, O'Connor was distributing sandwiches he had purchased at Subway to all the players and coaches on the bus. O'Connor did not purchase a sandwich for Varnell since he was unable to contact her prior to arriving at the bus to take her order. When Varnell entered the bus, O'Connor advised her he did not have a sandwich for her, but that he had a foot-long Subway sandwich for himself. He told Varnell "if you want, you can have six inches of mine." O'Connor contends Varnell responded, "You're so nasty, you're so nasty"

and touched his arm.<sup>2</sup> (Tr. at p. 60, L 17 to p. 61, L 22; p. 65, L 15-19; R.E. No. 4). Varnell disputes O'Connor's version of this exchange. (Tr. at p. 507, L 13 to p. 508, L 10; R.E. No. 5). According to Varnell, when O'Connor offered her six inches of his foot-long sandwich, Mollaghan said to O'Connor, "I didn't know you had six inches [to give her], mate." And Varnell told Mollaghan, "you know that's not he was talking about." (*Id.*; R.E. No. 5).

On the November trip, the soccer team, coaches and administrators, including O'Connor and Varnell, traveled by bus to Dallas. When the team arrived at their hotel in Dallas, and while unloading their luggage and equipment, Vincent and Mollaghan were making crude comments to O'Connor about having to share a hotel room with Casey Smith, the student manager. Vincent and Mollaghan were teasing O'Connor about homosexual acts they thought Smith would engage with O'Connor. (Tr. at p. 108, L 4 to p. 109, L 13; R.E. No. 4; Tr. at p. 289, L 72 to p. 291, L 8; R.E. No. 7; Tr. at p. 367, L 2-21; R.E. No. 6; Tr. at p. 511, L 19 to p. 512, L 23; R.E. No. 5; see also Trial Exhibit "3"). Vincent and Mollaghan continued making these comments to O'Connor as they proceeded into the hotel lobby.

Varnell came up to the coaches while Vincent and Mollaghan were making these comments to O'Connor, and noticed he was uncomfortable with their comments. (Tr. at p. 512, L 19-27; R.E. No. 5). Varnell told O'Connor that she had an extra bed in her hotel room and that he could use it if he felt too uncomfortable rooming with Smith.<sup>3</sup> (*Id.*; R.E. No. 5). O'Connor contends that, subsequently, on two other occasions within five minutes of this first exchange, Varnell asked him to "stay in my room," grabbing his arm on one of these occasions. (Tr. at p. 62, L 7-16; p. 110, L 28 to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Hereinafter, this is referred to as the "Subway sandwich" comment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Hereinafter, this is referred to as the "hotel room" comment.

p. 111, L 3; R.E. No. 4). But Varnell never asked or ordered O'Connor to stay in her bed or sleep with her. (Tr. at p. 110, L 17-27; p. 113, L 16-25; R.E. No. 4; Tr. at p. 513, L 20-27; R.E. No. 5). And O'Connor did not stay in Varnell's room that evening. (Tr. at p. 62, L 7 to p. 63, L 7; p. 107, L 14 to p. 111, L 3; p. 133, L 11-25; R.E. No. 4).

Shortly after the soccer team returned from Dallas, an investigation was conducted by the Athletic Director's office into allegations and complaints about Vincent, raised by members of the soccer team, in which Varnell participated. Thereafter, Vincent was reassigned from his position as head women's soccer coach by Giannini. Giannini named Mollaghan the interim head coach, and O'Connor contends he was "promoted" to the assistant women's soccer coach by Mollaghan. (Tr. at p. 116, L 25 to p. 117, L 10; R.E. No. 4). O'Connor did not receive a contract or any other benefits from USM as a result of this purported promotion. (Tr. at p. 117, L 11 to p. 118, L 17; R.E. No. 4).

O'Connor continued with his duties with the women's soccer program through the Spring 2000 semester, and continued to receive all benefits as a GA that he received in the Fall 1999 semester – tuition, room, board, and books. (Tr. at p. 114, L 28 to p. 116, L 1; R.E. No. 4). He was also hired by USM to assist in running soccer camps at USM in June of 2000, for which he received a total of \$13,456.96. (Tr. at p. 120, L 15 to p. 121, L 15; R.E. No. 4; see also Trial Exhibit "17").

O'Connor had no other personal issues with Varnell prior to her comments in October and November 1999. Other than the Subway sandwich comment and the hotel room comment, Varnell made no other sexually harassing or offensive remarks to O'Connor at any time. (Tr. at p. 106, L 3-14; p. 107, L 10-13; p. 111, L 4-14; R.E. No. 4). On April 20, 2000, more than five months later, O'Connor filed a written sexual harassment grievance with USM, regarding the Subway sandwich comment and the hotel room comment. (Tr. at p. 63, L 22 to p. 64, L 27; p. 113, L 5-18; R.E. No. 4).

He did not report the alleged incidents to anyone else at USM other than Vincent before filing this written grievance. (Tr. at p. 114, L 15-27; R.E. No. 4).

O'Connor remained the GA (and supposed assistant coach) with the USM women's soccer team until he resigned in late July of 2000 to take another position at the University of Louisiana-Monroe. (Tr. at p. 114, L 28 to p. 116, L 16; R.E. No. 4). His resignation letter mentioned nothing about sexual harassment, a hostile work environment, or retaliation. (Tr. at p. 116, L 2-16; R.E. No. 4; see also Trial Exhibit "9").

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

Two of the elements O'Connor must prove to succeed on his sexual harassment/hostile work environment claim are that (a) the harassment was based upon sex and (b) the harassment affected a term, condition or privilege of employment. O'Connor's sexual harassment claim against Varnell must fail because he cannot satisfy his burden to prove these elements.

The only evidence O'Connor offered at trial of anything Varnell did that he claimed was sexual harassment are two comments she made – the Subway sandwich comment and the hotel room comment. The law is clear, however, that one or two isolated comments or incidents are insufficient to constitute actionable sexual harassment. Thus, O'Connor's claim must fail as a matter of law.

Moreover, these two comments, even if made by Varnell, were not based on sex or "of a sexual nature." They occurred in the context of and were in response to comments made by O'Connor's superiors, Vincent and Mollaghan, that were sexual in nature. More importantly, O'Connor admitted that no sexual advances were made by Varnell toward him, and Varnell clearly testified she had no desire to have any relationship with O'Connor. Since O'Connor cannot show these alleged comments of Varnell were based on sex, his sexual harassment claim fails.

Thirdly, and most importantly, O'Connor provided no evidence that these comments affected a term, condition or privilege of his position with USM. O'Connor continued to receive all benefits he had previously received as a GA until he resigned his position in July of 2000. He was even hired to coach soccer camps some eight months after these alleged comments and paid over \$13,000.00 for a single month's work.

Next, Varnell's alleged comments were also not "severe" or "pervasive." O'Connor admitted that the Subway sandwich exchange lasted all of thirty seconds to a minute, while the hotel room

exchange, at most, spanned four to five minutes. O'Connor further admitted these were the only two comments Varnell made that he thought were offensive or sexually harassing. He also admitted Varnell never propositioned him for sex or asked him to sleep in her bed, and there was no sexual physical contact between them. These two comments, isolated in nature and short in duration, fall woefully short of being "severe" or "pervasive" to be actionable sexual harassment.

Furthermore, Varnell's two alleged comments were not objectively hostile or abusive. Each comment was allegedly made after Vincent and Mollaghan had made sexually-based comments to O'Connor, which Varnell heard. More importantly, these comments, given their isolated nature and the context in which they allegedly occurred, are nowhere near the level of hostility and abusiveness as the comments and conduct in numerous other cases in which the Federal courts found no actionable sexual harassment existed. All of those cases demonstrate that Varnell's comments, even if made, fail the objective standard to equate to actionable sexual harassment.

The two isolated comments also fail the subjective element of the severe and persuasive prong. Vincent, Mollaghan and O'Connor all admitted that Vincent and Mollaghan were making crude, homosexual remarks toward O'Connor immediately prior to Varnell's alleged hotel room comment. No reasonable person could determine O'Connor was subjectively offended by Varnell's comments when he admits he was not offended by Vincent's or Mollaghan's comments.

Finally, the jury's \$300,000.00 damage award to O'Connor was unsupported by the evidence.

O'Connor put on absolutely no evidence of economic loss as a result of the alleged harassment or his resignation from USM. While he provided limited testimony concerning alleged emotional distress he suffered, he stated the source of this emotional distress was his loss of control of and

inability to coach the soccer team, not Varnell's two alleged comments. Hence, there was no evidence whatsoever to support the jury's award of compensatory damages.

For these reasons, no reasonable jury could have found in favor of O'Connor on his sexual harassment claim, and the trial court erred when it denied Varnell's Motion for JNOV or for New Trial.

#### ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT DENIED VARNELL'S MOTION FOR JUDGMENT NOTWITHSTANDING THE VERDICT AS TO O'CONNOR'S SEXUAL HARASSMENT CLAIM.

This Court reviews a circuit court's decision to deny a JNOV motion *de novo*. That is, this Court does not defer to the circuit court's decision but rather reviews the matter anew. *Univ. of S. Miss. v. Williams*, 891 So.2d 160, 167-68 (Miss. 2004) (citing *Northern Elec. Co. v. Phillips*, 660 So.2d 1278, 1281 (Miss. 1995)). A circuit court should only deny a JNOV motion as to a particular theory of liability where the particular theory of liability is legally sufficient to support the verdict. *Id.* (citing Miss. R. Civ. P. 50).

"A motion for JNOV is a challenge to the legal sufficiency of the evidence, and this Court will affirm the denial of a JNOV if there is substantial evidence to support the verdict." *U.S. Fid. and Guar. Co. of Miss. v. Martin*, 998 So.2d 956, 964 (Miss. 2008) (citing *Adcock v. Miss. Transp. Comm'n*, 981 So.2d 942, 948 (Miss. 2008)). "Substantial evidence" has been defined as "information of such quality and weight that reasonable and fair-minded jurors in the exercise of impartial judgment might have reached different conclusions." *Martin*, 998 So.2d at 964 (citing *Adcock*, 981 So.2d at 948-49).

"If the facts are so overwhelmingly in favor of the appellant that reasonable and fair-minded jurors could not have arrived at a contrary verdict, then this Court must reverse and render." *Miss. Transp. Comm'n v. SCI, Inc.*, 717 So.2d 332, 338 (Miss. 1998) (citations omitted). "In essence, judgments as a matter of law present both the trial court and the appellate court with the same question--whether the evidence, as applied to the elements of a party's case, is either so indisputable.

or so deficient, that the necessity of a trier of fact has been obviated." White v. Stewman, 932 So.2d 27, 32 (Miss. 2006).

Ged O'Connor brought multiple claims against USM and Varnell in this lawsuit. However, all of these claims were disposed of either by summary judgment or when the trial court granted Varnell's Motion for JNOV, with the exception of O'Connor's sexual harassment claim against Varnell. Since Varnell is an individual, this claim was brought pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983. One of the two issues before this Court on Varnell's appeal is whether there is sufficient evidence to support the jury's verdict in favor of O'Connor and against Varnell on O'Connor's sexual harassment claim.

There are two (2) types of sexual harassment claims: (1) quid pro quo and (2) hostile work environment. Whether a sexual harassment claim is either quid pro quo or hostile work environment depends on if the employee suffered a "tangible employment action"; if a tangible employment action occurs, it is a quid pro quo case. Casiano v. AT&T Corp., 213 F.3d 278, 283 (5th Cir. 2000). "A tangible employment action constitutes a significant change in employment status, such as hiring, failing to promote, reassignment with significantly different responsibilities, or a decision causing a significant change in benefits." Burlington Industries, Inc. v. Ellerth, 524 U.S. 742, 761 (1998).

There is no evidence whatsoever that O'Connor suffered any type of <u>tangible employment</u> action – he remained in the GA position after Vincent was reassigned and continued to receive all

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> O'Connor's sexual harassment claim under Title VII was dismissed by the Trial Court on summary judgment as he did not file his EEOC charge within 180 days of the alleged harassment. R. at 1093-94; R.E. No. 2). Varnell has no liability in her individual capacity under Title VII. See Ackel v. National Communications, Inc., 339 F.3d 376, 381 n. 1 (5th Cir. 2003). Sexual harassment in the public employment environment is actionable under § 1983. Lauderdale v. Tex. Dept. of Criminal Justice, Inst. Div., 512 F.3d 157, 165-66 (5th

benefits of his GA position until he resigned on July 14, 2000. Further, O'Connor contends he was in fact "promoted" to assistant coach in early 2000. Thus, O'Connor does not have a *quid pro quo* claim. His sexual harassment claim, therefore, is based on an alleged hostile work environment.

In order for O'Connor to make out a *prima facie* case and recover on his hostile work environment claim, he must establish that (1) he belonged to a protected class; (2) he was subject to unwelcome sexual harassment; (3) the harassment was based upon sex; (4) the harassment affected a term, condition or privilege of employment; and (5) the employer knew or should have known of the harassment and failed to take prompt remedial action. *Hockman v. Westward Communications, LLC*, 407 F.3d 317, 325 (5th Cir. 2004).

## A. The two isolated comments by Varnell are insufficient as a matter of law to constitute actionable sexual harassment.

The law is clearly established that "<u>[o]ccasional comments</u>, discourtesy, rudeness, or <u>isolated incidents</u>, unless extremely serious, are insufficient to establish [actionable] harassment." Hancock v. Barron Builders and Management Co., Inc, 523 F.Supp.2d 571, 575 (S.D. Tex. 2007) (citing Shepherd v. Comptroller of Pub. Accounts, 168 F.3d 871, 874 (5th Cir. 1999)) (<u>emphasis</u> added).

Here, O'Connor's entire sexual harassment claim against Varnell is based on only two isolated comments she allegedly made -- the Subway sandwich comment and the hotel room comment. That is it. O'Connor stated he had no other problems with Varnell before the two alleged comments. He further admitted that these two comments were the only two comments ever made by Varnell that he thought were sexually harassing or offensive. (Tr. at p. 106, L 3-14; p. 107, L 10-13;

p. 111, L 4-14; R.E. No. 4). These 2 isolated comments fall into the category of "occasional comments", which are not actionable sexual harassment. Therefore, O'Connor's claim must fail as a matter of law.

## B. The alleged comments of Varnell toward O'Connor were not based on sex or sexual in nature.

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