IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

JOHN MOLLAGHAN and
JOHN VINCENT

APPELLANTS

V.

NO. 2010-TS-02005

SONYA VARNELL, INDIVIDUALLY
and OFFICIALLY; ESTATE OF DR.
HORACE FLEMING; RICHARD
GIANNINI, INDIVIDUALLY and
OFFICIALLY; and UNIVERSITY OF
SOUTHERN MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEES

BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE, RICHARD GIANNINI

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF FORREST COUNTY
Consolidated Cause No. CI01-0024

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court was imminently correct in granting JNOV in Giannini's favor as no reasonable juror could have found as did the jury with regard to the claims of Mollaghan and Vincent. More specifically, and as it concerns these individual's due process claims, it was undisputed at trial that they received all monetary compensation to which they were entitled under their contracts with USM. Thus, neither was deprived of any due process with respect to any property interest they may have possessed relative to their then-existing employment contracts.

The jury's verdicts with regard to these individuals' gender discrimination claims were likewise against the overwhelming and undisputed evidence to the contrary. Neither of these former employees proved the essential element of discharge necessary to support their claims. Vincent was re-assigned to a teaching position within the university, and Mollaghan was actually made the interim head coach, succeeding Vincent, all of which remained effective through the end of their then-existing employment contracts. Further, both were succeeded in their final respective coaching positions by males.

Finally, the jury's verdicts on the retaliation claims were ripe for reversal by the trial court as neither Mollaghan nor Vincent presented evidence of any causal connection between the allegedly adverse employment actions taken against them and the purportedly protected activity of reporting Varnell's supposed sexual harassment of O'Connor. Specifically as to Vincent, it is undisputed that his removal as head coach occurred months before O'Connor filed his formal grievance with USM and after Vincent's failure to follow Giannini's advice and admonishments with regard to the proper manner in which to address the numerous continuing complaints against him by the team members and their parents. Mollaghan's claim for retaliation fails as a

matter of law and undisputed fact because he actually received a promotion from assistant to interim head coach during the relevant time period, was allowed to interview twice for the head coaching position, and was succeeded by someone who he failed to prove was clearly less qualified than himself.²

² Giannini expressly adopts and incorporates by reference those factual matters and legal authorities set forth in his co-Appellees' briefs to the extent consistent with the arguments contained herein.

ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

Because these cases arrive in this Court on appeal from the trial court's granting of JNOV, the appropriate appellate standard of review is *de novo*. Pierce v. Cook, 992 So.2d 612, 620 (Miss. 2008)(citing White v. Stewman, 932 So.2d 27, 32 (Miss. 2006)). More specifically, the standard has been explained as follows:

A motion for a JNOV tests the legal sufficiency of the evidence supporting the verdict, not the weight of the evidence. It asks the court to hold, as a matter of law, that the verdict may not stand. When a motion for JNOV is made, the trial court must consider all of the evidence - not just evidence which supports the non-movant's case - in the light most favorable to the party opposed to the motion. If the facts and inferences so considered point so overwhelmingly in favor of the movant that reasonable jurors could not have arrived at a contrary verdict, granting the motion is required.

McFarland v. Entergy Mississippi, Inc., 919 So.2d 894, 899-900 (Miss. 2005)(citations omitted).

Thus, “[w]hen it is clear that the jury decided issues in a case with total disregard for the conclusions that were mandated by the overwhelming evidence, a trial judge has the authority to set aside an unjust verdict.” Alfa Janitorial & Paper Co. v. Crawford, 925 So.2d 547, 549 (Ms.Ct.App. 2005)(citing Booker v. Pettey, 770 So.2d 39 (Miss. 2000)). It is against this backdrop that Giannini respectfully requests that this Court affirm the trial court's grant of JNOV as to both the Vincent and Mollaghan jury verdicts.

B. Procedural Due Process Claims

(1) Applicable Law

Typically, when a former employee raises a procedural due process claim, it should be evaluated utilizing a two step process: (1) The court must decide whether a protected property

interest exists, and (2) Thereafter, what “process” was due the employee in order to protect his substantive rights. Bowie v. City of Jackson Police Department, 816 So.2d 1012, 1015 (Ms.Ct.App. 2002). In order to present a viable denial of due process claim, the aggrieved party must, at the very outset, provide competent evidence of a property interest in his employment. See, Whiting v. USM, 451 F.3d 339, 344 (5th Cir. 2006); see also, Nichols v. USM, 669 F.Supp.2d 684, 694 (S.D. Miss. 2009) and Staheli v. Univ. of Miss., 621 F.2d 449, 453 (5th Cir. 1985). In another dispute involving USM and one of its former employees, the Court of Appeals provided the following instruction as to what constitutes an actionable property interest in continued public employment:

‘The Fourteenth Amendment’s procedural protection of property is a safeguard of the security of interests that a person has already acquired in specific benefits.’ These property interests take several forms, containing certain attributes. ‘To have a property interest in a benefit, a person clearly must have more than an abstract need...for it...[but instead must] have a legitimate claim of entitlement to it.’ These property interests are not created by the Constitution, but by ‘existing rules or understandings that stem from an independent source such as state law....’ The property interests ‘secure certain benefits and support claims of entitlement to those benefits.’ Thus courts must look to state law to determine if a state employee has a property right in continued employment.

Suddith v. USM, 977 So.2d 1158, 1170 (Ms.Ct.App. 2007)(citations omitted). Further, the mere existence of an “employee handbook or manual” does not, in and of itself, create a protected property interest for which procedural due process is required. Suddith, 977 So.2d @1171-72; see also, Nichols, 669 F.Supp.2d @ 694. This is especially true when the handbook or manual expressly rejects any such notion and clearly advises the employee of his “at-will” status. Nichols, 669 F.Supp. 2d @ 694; see also, Hartle v. Packard Elec., 626 So.2d 106, 109 (Miss. 1993). Finally, and to the extent that an employee receives all benefits due and owing under the

terms and conditions of his employment, any property interest he may have possessed in the same has undeniably been protected and not infringed upon. Robinson v. Boyer, 825 F.2d 64, 67 (5th Cir. 1987); see also, Nichols, 669 F.Supp.2d @ 694.

(2) **John Vincent**

It is undisputed that Vincent, at the time he was relieved of this head coaching duties, had a one-year contract of employment with USM for 1999-2000. (Exh. "E-5"). It is likewise true that he was, in fact, paid all monies due and owing to him under that contract, even though he spent the balance of his employment in a teaching position. (T.T., pp. 187, 398). Therefore, it is inconceivable how, when faced with such plain and uncontradicted proof, the jury could've found that Vincent had a property interest in employment and/or compensation beyond the term of his final 1999-2000 year contract. Because no property interest existed, none of the defendants below, including Giannini, owed him any procedural due process as a matter of law. See, Whiting, 451 F.3d @ 344 (5th Cir. 2006); see also, Nichols, 669 F.Supp.2d @ 694 (S.D. Miss. 2009) and Staheli, 621 F.2d @ 453 (5th Cir. 1985).

(3) **John Mollaghan**

As was true with respect to Vincent immediately above, so too did the jury commit gross error in finding that Mollaghan was denied procedural due process. In fact, because Mollaghan was allowed to stay one month *beyond* the contractual term of his 1999-2000 employment (Exhs. "E-6,11"), he actually received more than he was due. (T.T., pp. 298-300). Thus, it can hardly be said that he was denied any property interest which would have triggered any procedural protections. His brief tenure as "interim" head coach following Vincent's removal likewise did not create any property interest in future employment as he was allowed to interview twice for the full-time position with the clear understanding that he was not guaranteed the same; rather,

only that he would receive the same consideration as all other candidates. (T.T., pp. 281-82, 292-94).

C. Gender Discrimination Claims

(1) Applicable Law

As the Court is aware, it is unlawful under Title VII for any employer to discriminate against any individual on account of their gender. See, 42 U.S.C. §2000e-2(a)(1). Of course, one of the essential elements of such a claim is proof that the plaintiff was replaced in his position by someone outside his protected class of persons. Brown v. Bunge Corp., 207 F.3d 776, 781 (5th Cir. 2000). In any event, proof of such a claim, as asserted by both Vincent and Mollaghan herein, requires evidence of intentional discrimination, which may be either direct or circumstantial in nature. See, Alvarado v. Tex. Rangers, 492 F.3d 605, 611 (5th Cir. 2007). Should an employee elect to proceed upon proof of direct discrimination, such evidence must not rest upon inference, but rather, it shall be “directly related to sex-based animus; proximate in time to the termination; made by an individual with authority over the employment decision; and related to the employment decision.” Krystek v. USM, 164 F.3d 251, 254-56 (5th Cir. 1999). Mere “stray remarks” are insufficient to constitute competent “direct evidence” of discriminatory animus. Jackson v. Cal-Western Packaging Corp., 602 F.3d 374, 380 (5th Cir. 2010); see also, Reilly v. TXU Corp., 271 Fed. Appx. 375, 379-380 (5th Cir. 2008).

If a given former employee elects to proceed with circumstantial evidence, then his claim for gender discrimination must be analyzed under the “burden-shifting” regimen of McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 792 (1973). This analysis has been adopted and utilized repeatedly by the Fifth Circuit. See, e.g., Alvarado, 492 F.3d @ 611 and Reilly, 271 Fed. Appx. @ 380. However, if the aggrieved employee fails to make a *prima facie* case in the first instance,

then there is clearly no need for any further analysis under the McDonnell Douglas burden-shifting frame work. See, e.g., Bailey v. Dolgencorp, LLC, 2011WL3759629 (5th Cir. 2011). Again, an essential element of a *prima facie* case of gender discrimination naturally includes proof that the employee was either replaced by someone outside of his protected classification, or that similarly situated persons were treated more favorably under circumstances substantially identical to his own. See, Stover v. Hattiesburg Pub. Sch. Dist., 549 F.3d 985, 992-93 (5th Cir. 2008); see also, Okoye v. Univ. of Tex. Houston Health Sci. Ctr., 245 F.3d 507, 513 (5th Cir. 2001).

(2) **John Vincent**

The jury's verdict in favor of Vincent under this theory of liability cannot stand for two fundamental reasons: (a) He was not "discharged"; and (b) He was replaced by another male. It is undisputed that in December 1999, Giannini made the decision to relieve Vincent of his head coaching duties with respect to the USM women's soccer team, thereby exercising the university's right under his existing contract (Exh. "E-5"), to transfer him to a teaching position within the Human Performance Department for the balance of his one year employment term at the same rate of pay. (T.T., p. 187-88). It is likewise uncontradicted that the vacancy in the head coaching position created by Vincent's reassignment was filled first, on an interim basis, by Mollaghan, the assistant coach. (T.T., pp. 193, 281-82). Ultimately, when Mollaghan was not selected to the position on a permanent basis, it was filled by another male, Matt Clark, who occupied the position for a period of years. (T.T., pp. 194).

(3) **John Mollaghan**

As was true with regard to Vincent's gender discrimination claims discussed immediately above, the same shortcomings concerning Mollaghan's claims were patently obvious at trial

based upon the overwhelming evidence. Mollaghan suffered no adverse employment decision, much less a termination, when he was in fact promoted to the position of interim head coach of the team in the wake of Vincent's removal and transfer. (T.T., pp. 193, 281-82). And, as previously established, USM hired a male, Matt Clark, to ultimately fill the head coaching spot previously occupied on an interim basis by Mollaghan. (T.T., pp. 194). Therefore, it is inconceivable under the applicable law and undisputed facts as to how the jury could've rendered a verdict in his favor on this count.

D. Retaliation Claims

(1) Applicable Law

Section 2000e-3(a) of Title VII makes it unlawful for an employer to retaliate against an employee where the latter either opposes unlawful employment practices, or participates in proceedings attending a claim of discriminatory conduct. In order to establish a viable claim of retaliation, it is incumbent upon the aggrieved employee to come forward with competent evidence that (1) he engaged in protected activity, (2) suffered an adverse employment decision, and (3) that there was a causal connection between the protected activity and the adverse employment decision suffered. See, e.g., Russell v. Univ. of Tex. of Permian Basin, 234 Fed. Appx. 195, 205 (5th Cir. 2007) and Raggs v. MP&L Co., 278 F.3d 463, 471 (5th Cir. 2002). Such elements may be proven by circumstantial evidence, but in such instances, the same "burden-shifting" McDonnell Douglas analysis discussed previously applies, and the plaintiff must establish that he would not have suffered any adverse employment action "but for" the protected conduct. Septimus v. Univ. of Houston, 399 F.3d 601, 608 (5th Cir. 2005). Obviously, and as was true with respect to the gender discrimination claims addressed herein above, a failure of proof as to any of the three (3) essential elements of a *prima facie* case of retaliation obviate the

need to engage in an analysis of the employer's reasons, as well as any rebuttal evidence by the employee. See, e.g., Lopez v. Martinez, 240 Fed. Appx. 648, 650 (5th Cir. 2007) and Wilson v. DSU, 143 Fed. Appx. 611, 613 (5th Cir. 2005).

(2) **John Vincent**

As noted by the trial court in reaching its decision to set aside the jury's verdict on Vincent's retaliation claim (R.E., pp. 11-12; C.P., pp. 1252-53), the latter failed to come forward with the requisite proof of causation necessary to make a viable claim. Simply put, he failed to show that "but for" his having engaged in protected activity (i.e., reporting the alleged sexual harassment of O'Connor by Varnell), he would not have suffered any adverse employment action (i.e., removal as head coach and reassigned to a teaching position)(T.T., pp. 189-92). This is especially true when consideration is given to the fact that O'Connor did not formally file his own grievance until months after Vincent's removal. (Exh. "E-3"). Although Vincent's complaint to Giannini regarding Varnell and O'Connor occurred approximately a month before his removal as head coach, mere temporal proximity alone does not constitute sufficient proof of "but for" causation. See, e.g., Strong v. University Healthcare System, 482 F.3d 802, 808 (5th Cir. 2007); see also, Septimus, 399 F.3d @ 608 (5th Cir. 2005). There was simply too much credible evidence to the effect that Giannini received numerous complaints from parents (Exh. "E-34") and team members in the interim (Exhs. "E-26 & 27"), as well as Vincent's own failure to work towards a reasonable solution in the manner suggested by Giannini, such as meeting with the team in mid-December, to support a finding by the jury that a complaint of sexual harassment bore any causal relation to Vincent's removal and reassignment.

(3) **John Mollaghan**

The jury's verdict as to Mollaghan's retaliation claim could not stand as the

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